FILED August 17, 2015 Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

No. 72941-1-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

MARIO ONTIVEROS,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SNOHOMISH COUNTY

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ELAINE L. WINTERS Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The trial court violated Mario Ontiveros's constitutional right to present a defense when it excluded his expert on police interrogation techniques and false confessions.
- 2. The trial court violated Mario Ontiveros's state constitutional right to be present when it discussed jury questions and formulated answers in open court when Mario was not present.
- 3. The trial court violated Mario Ontiveros's federal constitutional right to be present when it discussed jury questions and formulated answers in open court when Mario was not present.
- 4. The trial court erred by admitting evidence that KW engaged in self-harming behavior because she was sexually abused by Mario Ontiveros.
- The trial court erred by permitting unlicensed therapistLogan Roth to testify as an expert.
- 6. The trial court erred by instructing the jury on expert testimony. Instruction 4 (CP 283).
- 7. The trial court violated Mario Ontiveros's state constitutional right to an impartial jury when it prohibited defense counsel from

asking prospective jurors about wrongful conviction cases during voir dire.

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The accused has the constitutional right to call witnesses and present a complete defense. U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV; Const. art. I § 22. Reasoning that his expert's opinion was not relevant because she did not know if Mario Ontiveros was innocent, the trial court prohibited the defense from calling a psychologist who would have testified that Mario's admissions to the police detective should be viewed with caution because the interrogator used interview techniques that contribute to false confessions. Should Mario's convictions be reversed because this Court cannot be convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that the violation of Mario's constitutional right to present his defense was harmless? (Assignment of Error 1)
- 2. The accused's constitutional right to "appear and defend in person, or by counsel" entitles him to be present at every stage of the trial where his substantial rights may be affected. Cont. art. I, § 22. Mario Ontiveros was not present when the court and lawyers discussed questions from the deliberating jury and formulated the court's responses. Should Mario's convictions be reversed because this Court

cannot be convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that the violation of Mario's right to present where his substantial rights were at stake was harmless? (Assignment of Error 2)

- 3. The accused has a federal constitutional right to be present at his trial applies to all hearings where his presence would contribute to the fairness of the proceedings. U.S. Const. amend. XIV. Mario Ontiveros was not present when the court and lawyers discussed questions from the deliberating jury and formulated the court's responses. Because Mario could have consulted with his counsel about the jury questions, which were largely factual, should his convictions be reversed because this Court cannot be convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that the violation of his Fourteen Amendment right to present be present was harmless? (Assignment of Error 3)
- 4. Evidence is inadmissible if its prejudicial value is outweighed by the danger it will mislead the jury or prejudice the defendant. ER 403. KW was permitted to testify that her psychological problems, self-harming behavior, and problems in school were caused by Mario Ontiveros's actions, and the State argued the causal connection to the jury in closing. No expert offered the opinion that Mario was responsible for KW's behavior, and there is no

scientific proof that self-harm, depression and problems in school are characteristics of sexually abused children. Should Mario's convictions be reversed because the evidence was more prejudicial than probative and there is a reasonable possibility its admission impacted the jury verdict? (Assignments of Error 4-6)

5. The accused has the constitutional right to trial by an impartial jury. U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV; Cont. art. I §§ 21, 22. The defense has the right to question prospective jurors in an effort to ensure an impartial jury, but the trial court prohibited defense counsel from questioning the prospective jurors about cases of wrongful convictions. Should Mario Ontiveros's convictions be reversed because the court's prohibition impeded his ability to exercise challenges for cause and peremptory challenges in order to obtain an impartial jury? (Assignment of Error 7)

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

When Mario Ontiveros's mother was ill and he was having problems in high school, he moved from Texas to Washington to live with his sister Autumne and her husband Brad West. 10/27/14 RP 177; 10/28/14 RP 33, 42-43; Ex. 24 at 4. Mario lived with the couple from approximately 2004 to August 2006. 10/24/14 RP 7-8; 10/27/14 RP

178; 10/28/14 RP 17, 32-33. He obtained a job, paid rent, and helped with household chores. 10/24/14 RP 111-12; 10/28/14 RP 17-18.

Mr. Ward's daughter from a prior marriage, KW, lived with her mother Autumn Pulver in Seattle. 10/24/14 RP 4, 5. KW normally spent every other weekend during the school year, some holidays, and various weeks during the summer with her father and stepmother. 10/27/14 RP 19, 179. KW had a good relationship with Mario, and they watched television and played video games together. 10/24/14 RP 7; 10/28/14 RP 4-5, 35.

In August 2006, when she was 11 years old, KW called and asked her mother to pick her up early from her father's house in Everett. 10/24/14 RP 29, 45; 10/27/14 RP 31, 32, 69. Mrs. Pulver picked her daughter up, and on the drive home, KW told her mother that Mario was doing something she could not see, told he was masturbating, asked her if she had ever masturbated, and suggested she should try it. 10/24/14 RP 31; 10/27/14 RP 33-34. KW assured her mother that Mario had not touched her. <u>Id</u>. at 59.

When they arrived home, Mrs. Pulver called KW's father and related what KW told her. 10/27/14 RP 34, 57, 69. Mr. West confronted Mario and inquired if he had the reported conversation with

K.W. 10/28/14 RP 9. Mario responded that he did. <u>Id</u>. Mr. West was very angry and had a kitchen knife in his hand. <u>Id</u>. at 10. Mario left the West's home that day and soon returned to his mother's home in Texas. Id. at 10, 37.

When she was in high school, KW became withdrawn and depressed; she frequently missed school and began cutting herself. 10/24/14 RP 33-34. KW told her mother about her unhappiness and the self-harm, related that she had not told her mother everything that happened with Mario, and asked for counseling. <u>Id</u>. at 46; 10/27/14 RP 73. Mrs. Pulver arranged for KW to see a therapist, Logan Roth, who met with KW for about six months. 10/27/14 RP 37-38.

KW told Ms. Roth that someone who lived in her father's house had touched her breasts, and she reported to a high school counselor that she had been molested. 10/24/14 RP 48, 170; 10/27/14 RP 111-12. The school counselor called the police. 10/24/14 RP 171.

KW provided a written statement via email to Snohomish

County Sheriff's Deputy Steven Martin and then sent him an amended statement in response to his questions and suggested additions.

10/28/14 RP 111-15. The Snohomish County Prosecutor charged

Mario with a single count of child molestation in the first degree, later

amended to four counts of child molestation in the first degree and one count of communicating with a minor for immoral purposes. CP 971-72, 1003.

At trial in 2014, 19-year-old KW testified that Mario grabbed her, tickled her, and briefly touched her breasts when he tucked her into bed on the evenings she stayed at her father's home in Everett.

10/24/14 RP 3, 16-22. KW could not describe any particular incidents, explaining they all blended together. Id. at 20, 27. Mr. and Mrs. West moved into the Everett home in February or March 2006, and KW thought Mario began tucking her in about a month after the move.

10/24/14 RP 21; 10/27/14 RP 181; 10/28/14 RP 26.

KW also related times when Mario talked to her about masturbation. The first occurred at her father's Mill Creek home during Christmas vacation when she saw Mario moving in a way that did not seem normal. 10/24/14 RP 11-14. Later at the Everett house, Mario reportedly asked if she remembered what he said at Christmas and appeared to be stroking his penis outside of his pants. Id. at 22, 25-26. The third incident was the one KW told her mother about in August 2006 when Mario again asked KW about masturbation. Id. at 28-29. KW called her mother when Mario left to tend to a barking dog.

<u>Id</u>. Mario apologized for his remarks when he reentered the house. <u>Id</u>. at 30.

The jury heard a tape-recorded statement Detective Martin took from Mario in August 2012. 10/28/14 RP 119-20; Ex. 23. Mario denied masturbating in KW's presence, but he later admitted that KW may have seen him masturbating and he might have talked to her about it. Ex. 24 at 13-16, 17-18, 23, 36, 37-38, 40. Mario denied touching KW's breasts, then agreed he could have accidentally touched her breasts one time when tickling her, and later admitted it was possible it happened two times or maybe a few times. Id. at 19-22, 26-31, 33-34, 45.

Prior to trial, the court excluded testimony from Deborah A. Connolly, a psychologist who would have testified about police interrogation tactics that lead to false confessions. CP 815-31. Dr. Connolly reviewed the transcript of the interview, located suggestive tactics, and would have opined that Mario's admissions should be viewed with extreme caution. CP 796-814.

¹ A disc of the taped interview was admitted as Exhibit 23, and a written transcript was admitted as Exhibit 24. Both exhibits included Mario's Social Security number. In order to comply with GR 31(e)(1)(A), the parties are replacing Exhibit 24 with a redacted copy and will then designate the exhibit to this Court. The parties will attempt to redact and designate the disc, Exhibit 23, if this Court informs counsel that it wants to hear the exhibit.

The jury found Mario guilty of two counts of first degree child molestation, two counts of the lesser-included crime of fourth degree assault, and one count of communicating with a minor for immoral purposes. CP 261-63, 268-69. Mario was sentenced to 78 months to life for the child molestation charges. CP 36-37.

D. ARGUMENT

1. Mario Ontiveros's constitutional right to present a defense was violated when the trial court excluded his expert witness who would have testifies about tactics used in the detective's interview that increase the chances of false confessions.

Confessions are extremely powerful evidence, and the accused must be be permitted to present reliable evidence bearing on the credibility of a confession. Crane v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 683, 690-91, 106 S. Ct. 2142, 90 L. Ed. 2d 636 (1986). The State introduced Mario Ontiveros's tape-recorded interview with a police detective, but the court prevented the defense from calling an expert witness who would have testified that, due to interview techniques utilized by the detective, the resulting admissions should be viewed with caution. Without the expert, the jury had no reason to doubt the detective's approach or Mario's admissions. Mario's conviction should be reversed because

the trial court's exclusion of his expert witness violated his constitutional right to present a complete defense.

a. The federal and state constitutions guarantee the meaningful opportunity to present complete defense.

The federal and state constitutions provide the accused the rights to counsel, to compel the production of witnesses, and to confront his accusers. U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV; Const. art. I, § 22.² Together, these rights guarantee "a meaningful opportunity to present a complete defense." Holmes v. South Carolina, 547 U.S. 319, 324, 126 S. Ct. 1727, 164 L. Ed. 2d 503 (2006) (quoting, Crane, 476 U.S. at 690); accord Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. 284, 294, 93 S. Ct. 1038, 35 L. Ed. 2d 297 (1973).

The right to present witnesses is essential to the defendant's right to defend himself:

The right to offer testimony of witnesses, and to compel their attendance, if necessary, is in plain terms the right

² The Sixth Amendment provides, "In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right . . . to have compulsory process for obtaining witnesses in his favor and to have the Assistance of Counsel for his defence." The Fourteenth Amendment states in part, " . . . nor shall any State deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law . . ." The compulsory process clauses of the Sixth Amendment is an essential components of due process that applies to the States through the Fourteenth Amendment. Washington v. Texas, 388 U.S. 14, 18-19 (1967).

Article I, Section 22 provides specific rights in criminal cases, including "the right to appear and defend in person, or by counsel . . . [and] to have compulsory process to compel the attendance of witnesses in his own behalf . . ."

to present a defense, the right to present the defendant's version of the facts as well as the prosecution's to the jury so it may decide where the truth lies. Just as an accused has the right to confront the prosecution's witnesses for the purpose of challenging their testimony, he has the right to present his own witnesses to establish a defense. This right is a fundamental element of due process of law.

Washington v. Texas, 388 U.S. 14, 19, 87 S. Ct. 1920, 18 L. Ed. 2d 1019 (1967); accord State v. Franklin, 180 Wn.2d 371, 378, 325 P.3d 159 (2014). Courts therefore "safeguard" this fundamental right "with meticulous care." State v. Maupin, 128 Wn.2d 918, 924, 913 P.2d 808 (1996) (quoting State v. Burri, 87 Wn.2d 175, 181, 550 P.2d 507 (1976)).

The constitutional right to present a complete defense limits the "broad latitude" of the government to establish rules excluding evidence from criminal trials. Holmes, 547 U.S. at 324. Thus, court rules may not be used to prevent a defendant from presenting relevant, probative evidence. State v. Jones, 168 Wn.2d 713, 723-24, 230 P.3d 576 (2010) ("If the evidence is of high probative value . . . 'no state interest can be compelling enough to preclude its introduction constituent with the Sixth Amendment and Const. art. 1, § 22."") (quoting State v. Hudlow, 99 Wn.2d 1, 16, 659 P.2d 514 (1983)).

Mario Ontiveros's defense was critically prejudiced when the trial court prohibited him from presenting an expert on interrogation techniques that contribute to false confessions, thus depriving the jury of evidence necessary to objectively evaluate Mario's statement to a police detective. The trial court misapplied ER 702, and the decision to exclude Dr. Connolly's testimony made it impossible for Mario to challenge the reliability of his statement to the police.

b. Mario's expert witness would have informed the jury about interrogation techniques that called his admissions into question.

While false confessions have been identified throughout our legal history, the recent exoneration of a number of innocent prisoners based upon DNA technology has intensified interest in the phenomenon of false confessions. Saul M. Kassin et. al., Police-Induced
Police-Induced
Confessions: Risk Factors and Recommendations, 34 Law & Hum.
Behav. 3, 4 (2010) (hereafter White Paper); Jon B. Gould & Richard
A. Leo, Century of Research, 100 J. Crim. L. & Criminology 825, 827-32

³ This article is a Scientific Review Paper (White Paper) issued by the American Psychology-Law Society, a division of the American Psychological Association, summarizing the research regarding false confessions. William C. Thompson, <u>An American Psychology-Law Society Scientific Review Paper on Police Interrogation and Confession</u>, 34 Law & Hum. Behav. 1 (2010) (introduction to White Paper). The article and introduction are found at CP 757-94.

(2010). Current scientific research has found that police interrogators "seek to manipulate a suspect into thinking that it is in his or her best interest to confess" using a variety of techniques, referred to as "maximization" and "minimization." White Paper at 12.

Maximization refers to a guilt-based interview, where the interrogator assumes the suspect is guilty and communicates his certainty to the suspect. White Paper at 12; see Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 450, 86 S. Ct. 1602, 16 L. Ed. 2d 694 (1966).

Minimization occurs when the interrogator normalizes the crime by providing moral justification or face-saving excuses for committing the crime, such as suggesting it was an accident. White Paper at 12; Miranda, 384 U.S. at 450; CP 801. Minimization may include offering the suspect alternative explanations for the crime, which vary in terms of moral culpability, but none of which permit the suspect to assert his innocence. Id; CP 801. Some suspects infer leniency from this technique, and others seek positive reinforcement by providing answers that please the interviewer. White Paper at 15-16; CP 802.

Minimization and explicit offers of leniency significantly increase the rate of both true and false confessions. CP 802 (citing Melissa B. Russano et. al., <u>Investigating True and False Confessions</u>

Within a Novel Experimental Paradigm, 16 Psychological Science 481 (2005)).⁴

Psychology professor Deborah Connolly reviewed Detective Martin's interview with Mario Ontiveros and concluded that it was a guilt-presumptive interview that should be "treated with great caution." CP 806-07. In her written report, Dr. Connolly explained that when an interviewer like Detective Martin assumes a person is guilty, he is likely to ignore or reject evidence to the contrary. CP 806. She pointed out where Detective Martin rejected Mario whenever he denied guilt and continued to question him about allegations he had denied. CP 804, 806.

After refusing to accept Mario's denials, Detective Martin used interview techniques designed to elicit a confession. For example, he asked Mario why KW would say that he had molested her, but rejected Mario's explanation as nonsensical. CP 804. The detective also used sequential requests for admissions combined with statements minimizing the seriousness of the actions or providing excuses for them. CP 805-06. The detective praised Mario for any incriminating statements. Id. The detective later encouraged Mario to "take"

⁴ Found at CP 252-57.

responsibility" and "get it off his chest," and he presented options for Mario to explain his actions, but all of the options were consistent with guilt. CP 806.

Dr. Connolly noted that Mario was susceptible to the detective's interview techniques, as many of his admissions occurred immediately or shortly after a statement by the detective minimizing the actions or posing options. CP 807. Mario was also willing to agree to at least one of Detective Martin's statements even if he did not understand all of the words. CP 806. She concluded that his statement should be viewed with "great caution." CP 807.

Mario did not present any witnesses and did not testify. <u>See</u> 10/21/14 RP 38-39. Dr. Connolly was his only defense to the charges and his only hope of convincing the jury that he falsely confessed to the charged crimes.

c. The trial court concluded that Dr. Connolly's testimony was not relevant or helpful to the jury because the expert did not know if Mario was innocent.

The court ruled that Dr. Connolly's testimony was inadmissible under ER 702 because it would not be helpful to the trier of fact. The court initially reasoned that the expert's testimony was not helpful because she would not "connect Mr. Ontiveros with the kinds of people

who confess falsely given these techniques" and the evidence was therefore speculative. 10/20/14 RP 43-44. The court, however, had not read the articles presented by defense counsel and therefore permitted Mario to move for reconsideration. 10/20/14 RP 43, 44; 10/22/14 RP 2; see CP 249-57, 307-425, 735-37.

The court later denied the motion for reconsideration, holding that Dr. Connolly's testimony was irrelevant because she did not know if Mario was innocent or not. 10/23/14 RP 8-9. The court agreed that behavioral science has established that interview techniques "can cause an innocent person to confess." <u>Id</u>. at 8. The court acknowledged that an expert could explain why an innocent person would confess falsely, but felt the subject was irrelevant because no expert could know if the interrogated suspect was innocent. <u>Id</u>. The court therefore concluded that Dr. Connolly's testimony was inadmissible:

So the testimony is only relevant if the person, in fact, was innocent. And that is, of course, the ultimate question for the jury anyway, and so it is not useful to the trier of fact.

This is not a question about <u>Frye</u>. It is, has been, and remains a question about ER 702 which is right back where I started. So I think <u>Rafay</u> was correctly decided. . . . And therefore, the motion to reconsider is denied, and Dr. Connolly will not testify.

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