FILED
February 29, 2016
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

NO. 72941-1-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

MARIO A. ONTIVEROS,

Appellant.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK K. ROE Prosecuting Attorney

SETH A. FINE Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office 3000 Rockefeller Avenue, M/S #504 Everett, Washington 98201 Telephone: (425) 388-3333

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

III. ARGUMENT

A. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY EXERCISED ITS DISCRETION IN EXCLUDING EXPERT TESTIMONY.

1. Since The Proposed Testimony Provided No Way To Distinguish Between True And False Confessions, The Court Properly Excluded It As Unhelpful To The Jury.

The defendant challenges the trial court's decision to exclude expert opinion on false confessions. When expert testimony is based on scientific principles, three requirements must be satisfied: "the expert (1) must qualify as an expert, (2) the expert's opinion must be based upon a theory generally accepted in the relevant scientific community, and (3) the testimony must be

helpful to the trier of fact." <u>State v. Cheatam</u>, 150 Wn.2d 626, 645, 81 P.3d 830 (2003). Application of these standards is reviewed for abuse of discretion. <u>Id.</u> at 646.

The trial court rejected the testimony because it was unhelpful to the jury. With regard to the defendant's confession, the jury's task was to determine whether the confession was true. The expert testimony shed no light on this. Rather, the expert would have testified that certain interview techniques increased the likelihood of confessions — both false and true. 2 CP 799. This testimony would have provided no way to distinguish between the two.

So testimony about confession techniques cannot do more than explain why an innocent person confessed falsely if the person was in fact innocent. That begs the question of whether he was, and the expert doesn't know the answer that.

10/23 RP 9.

The unhelpfulness of the proffered testimony is shown by the expert's ultimate conclusion: "it is my opinion that this confession should be treated with great caution." 2 CP 807. A jury should not blindly accept *any* evidence. *All* evidence should be treated with caution. Expert testimony that says no more than this is essentially useless.

Based on similar concerns, this court upheld the rejection of similar testimony from Dr. Richard Leo, a psychologist who has studied false confessions.

[T]he record before the trial court was silent as to any specific correlation—statistical or otherwise—between coercive interrogation methods and the likelihood of an unreliable or false confession in any particular case. Leo acknowledges that the same coercive interrogation methods that lead to false confessions also produce true confessions. And he does not claim an ability to estimate the percentage of confessions that are false or to identify specific interrogation techniques, either individually or in combination, that are more likely to result in false confessions than in true confessions. Finally, Leo has not developed any methodology based on his research that could assist in assessing the reliability of a particular confession.

Defendants rely heavily on several cases in which the courts permitted expert testimony on the risk of false confessions. Each of these cases involved specific personality or mental attributes that rendered the defendant particularly vulnerable to coercive interrogation methods, including mental deficiency. personality disorder, debilitation resulting extended drinking, a severe language disorder, recognized mental disorder, and low IQ. Defendants do not allege that Leo would have offered any insight into specific traits of the defendants that would have made them more susceptible to false confessions.

State v. Rafay, 168 Wn. App. 734, 786-87 ¶¶ 109-10, 285 P.3d 83 (2012) (footnotes omitted). The proffered testimony in the present case was heavily based on Dr. Leo's research. 2 CP 799-802. The offer of proof included nothing to solve these problems.

A Federal District Court has likewise rejected testimony from Dr. Leo:

As Dr. Leo forthrightly admits, despite extensive research and review of false confession cases, his methodology cannot accurately predict the frequency and causes of false confessions. His theories cannot discern whether a certain interrogation technique. used on a person with certain traits or characteristics, results in a predictable rate of false confessions. In addition, he has formulated no theory or methodology that can be tested. While the Court is aware that some laboratory studies ... suggest that coercive interrogation tactics produce a significant rate of false confessions, such studies shed no light on real-world interrogation practices and results because they were not conducted by law enforcement, were not part of a criminal investigation, did not involve actual suspects. and did not present the students with a serious penalty. Moreover, as Dr. Leo testified at the Daubert1 hearing, there is no way of knowing how frequently false confessions occur in the real world.

<u>United States v. Deuman</u>, 892 F. Supp. 2d 881, 886 (W.D. Mich. 2012) (citations omitted). Courts in other jurisdictions have likewise rejected expert testimony on false confessions. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Commonwealth v. Alicia</u>, 625 Pa. 429, 92 A.3d 753 (2014); <u>People v. Linton</u>, 56 Cal. 4th 1146, 1181-84, 158 Cal. Rptr. 3d 421, 302 P.3d 927, <u>cert. denied</u>, 134 S. Ct. 697 (2013); <u>United States v. Benally</u>, 541 F.3d 990, 993-96 (10th Cir. 2008), <u>cert. denied</u>, 555 U.S. 1146 (2009); <u>Riley v. State</u>, 278 Ga. 677, 681-83, 604 S.E.2d

488 (2004), cert. denied, 544 U.S. 1002 (2005). In light of these decisions, the trial court's ruling in the present case was not an abuse of discretion.

2. A Defendant Has No Constitutional Right To Introduce Unhelpful Expert Testimony.

The defendant also argues that the trial court's ruling abridged his constitutional right to present a defense. Rafay rejected this argument as well:

The [U.S.] Supreme Court has repeatedly emphasized that the mere fact an evidentiary rule may reasonably exclude favorable evidence does not necessarily restrict the defendant from presenting a defense. Evidentiary rules impermissibly abridge a criminal defendant's right to present a defense only if they are "arbitrary or disproportionate" and "infringe[] upon a weighty interest of the accused." The Supreme Court has generally found such an abridgment only when the evidentiary ruling effectively prohibited the substantive testimony of the defendant on matters relevant to the defense or the testimony of a percipient witness.

Rafay, 168 Wn. App. at 796 ¶ 128, quoting United States v. Scheffer, 523 U.S. 303, 118 S.Ct. 1281, 140 L.Ed.2d 413 (1998). Similarly in the present case, the exclusion of unhelpful evidence did not violate the defendant's constitutional rights.

¹ <u>See Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals, Inc.</u>, 509 U.S. 579, 113 S.Ct. 2708, 1256 L.Ed.2d 469 (1993).

- B. THE ABSENCE OF THE DEFENDANT DURING A DISCUSSION OF JURY QUESTIONS DID NOT VIOLATE HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS.
- 1. The Defendant's Constitutional Right To Be Present Does Not Extend To Discussions Of Legal Issues.

The defendant next claims that the trial court violated his constitutional rights by answering jury questions in his absence.

A criminal defendant has a constitutional right to be present at every critical stage of the criminal proceedings against him. A critical stage is one where the defendant's presence has a reasonably substantial relationship to the fullness of his opportunity to defend against the charge. But in general, in-chambers conferences between the court and counsel on legal matters are not critical stages of the proceedings except when the issues involve disputed facts.

State v. Sublett, 156 Wn. App. 160, 182-83 ¶ 42, 231 P.3d 231 (2010) (citations omitted), aff'd on other grounds, 176 Wn.2d 58, 292 P.3d 715 (2012). ²

Washington courts have applied these principles to jury questions that sought clarification of instructions. Such questions involve purely legal matters. Consequently, the court can properly formulate answers to such questions in the defendant's absence. State v. Jasper, 158 Wn. App. 518, 538-39 ¶¶ 34-35, 245 P.3d 228 (2010), aff'd on other grounds, 174 Wn.2d 96, 271 P.3d 876

(2012);³ State v. Brown, 29 Wn. App. 11, 16, 627 P.2d 132 (1981). In contrast, when a question concerned the possibility of jury deadlock, it was error (albeit harmless) to formulate an answer in the defendant's absence. State v. Burdette, 178 Wn. App. 183, 200 ¶ 36, 313 P.3d 1235 (2013).

In the present case, the jury's questions involved matters that were outside the evidence. A jury cannot properly decide the case based on evidence outside the record. See State v. Pierce, 169 Wn. App. 533, 553 ¶ 21, 280 P.3d 1158, review denied, 175 Wn.2d 1025 (2012) (prosecutor commits misconduct by urging jury to consider evidence outside record); State v. Cummings, 31 Wn. App. 427, 430, 642 P.2d 415 (1982) (new trial may be granted if jury considered matters outside the evidence). Since the questions here concerned such matters, the court's answer was dictated as a matter of law: it could not answer questions concerning matters outside the record. There was nothing that the defendant could do or say that would change this.

² The defendants' petitions for review did not challenge this portion of this court's decision. <u>Sublett</u>, 176 Wn.2d at 68 n. 3.

³ The Supreme Court "decline[d] to address" this issue, because the defendant had not "factually supported his claim." <u>Jasper</u>, 174 Wn.2d at 125 ¶ 58.

The defendant argues that had he been present, he could have urged the court to give additional instructions on the law. The same would be true of any discussion of legal issues. It is always theoretically possible that the defendant might be a better lawyer than his lawyer. That possibility is not enough to create a reasonably substantial relationship between the defendant's appearance and his opportunity to defend against the charge. Because the discussion of the jury questions involved purely legal issues, conducting that discussion in the defendant's absence did not violate his constitutional rights.

2. Since The Court's Answers Conveyed No Affirmative Information, Any Error Arising From The Defendant's Absence Was Harmless.

Even if there was a violation of the defendant's right to be present, that error was harmless. When error is shown, "the burden of proving harmlessness is on the State and it must do so beyond a reasonable doubt." State v. Irby, 170 Wn.2d 874, 886 ¶ 19, 246 P.3d 796 (2011). "Generally, where the trial court's response to a jury inquiry is negative in nature and conveys no affirmative information, no prejudice results and the error is harmless." Jasper, 158 Wn. App. at 541 ¶ 38; see State v. Russell, 25 Wn. App. 933, 948, 611 P.2d 1320 (1980); State v. Safford, 24 Wn. App. 783, 794,

604 P.2d 980 (1979), <u>review denied</u>, 83 Wn.2d 1026 (1980). Since the answers here provided no affirmative information, any error in formulating those answers was harmless.

The defendant now suggests that the answers could have repeated some of the language from earlier instructions concerning the definition of "reasonable doubt." In determining whether constitutional error was harmless, this court should presume that the jury followed its instructions. State v. Kalebaugh, 183 Wn.2d 578, 586 ¶ 16, 355 P.3d 253 (2015). The instructions here contained a proper explanation of the standard of proof. CP 280, inst. no. 2. There is no basis for assuming that the jurors forgot those instructions. Because the jury was properly instructed, any error in failing to consult the defendant on possible further instructions was harmless.

C. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY EXERCISED ITS DISCRETION IN ADMITTING LAY TESTIMONY CONCERNING THE VICTIM'S TRAUMA RESULTING FROM THE ABUSE.

The defendant next argues that the trial court improperly admitted testimony concerning the victim's self-cutting behavior and problems in school. He contends that this testimony was irrelevant. "The determination of whether testimony is relevant is within the discretion of the trial court." <u>State v. Turner</u>, 29 Wn. App. 282, 289,

627 P.2d 1324, review denied, 95 Wn.2d 1030 (1981). The State may properly offer "evidence of emotional or psychological trauma suffered by a complainant after an alleged rape." State v. Black, 109 Wn.2d 336, 349, 745 P.2d 12 (1987). Because the evidence in the present case falls within this description, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting it.

Black does bar expert testimony on "rape trauma syndrome." This is because such testimony from an expert "creat[es] an aura of special reliability and trustworthiness." <u>Id.</u> Here, the trial court specifically ruled that "there is no basis to admit any evidence through [the therapist] of an expert type." 10/20 RP 103.⁴ This limitation was followed throughout the therapist's direct examination. The therapist's testimony concerning the victim's self-harm and school problems was limited to recounting the victim's statements. 10/27 RP 114-15, At one point, she did testify that the abuse was affecting the victim's sleep. Defense counsel objected, and the court sustained the objection. 10/27 RP 124. Thus, no

⁴ The defendant's brief claims that "[t]he trial court ruled in limine that [the therapist] could offer testimony as an expert." Brief of Appellant at 39, citing 10/20 RP 103-04, 106-07. In view of the court's statement quoted above, this claim is incorrect.

expert testimony concerning the causes of the victim's behavior problems was admitted on direct examination.

On cross-examination, defense counsel asked the therapist about the causes of self-cutting behavior. 10/27 RP 167. The prosecutor then asked about this topic on re-direct. The therapist testified that she had not reached any conclusions about the causes of this behavior. She said that "[i]t's better to come directly from the person themselves." 10/27 RP 172-74. Since the defendant "opened the door," this testimony was proper. "[W]hen a party opens up a subject of inquiry on direct or cross-examination, he contemplates that the rules will permit cross-examination or redirect examination, as the case may be, within the scope of the examination in which the subject matter was first introduced." State v. Gefeller, 76 Wn.2d 449, 455, 458 P.2d 17 (1969).

In short, the State properly offered lay testimony concerning trauma resulting from the abuse. The jury was entitled to consider this evidence in deciding whether the abuse occurred. Black, 109 Wn.2d at 349. The prosecutor elicited expert testimony on this topic only after the defense "opened the door" – and even then, this testimony was minimal. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting this evidence.

D. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY EXERCISED ITS DISCRETION IN PRECLUDING VOIR DIRE EXAMINATION THAT WOULD HAVE INVITED SPECULATIVE COMPARISONS WITH UNRELATED CASES.

Finally, the defendant claims that the trial court improperly disallowed questions on voir dire examination. Although he claims that this claim implicates constitutional rights, that claim is not correct. The questions at issue would have involved specific cases in which innocent people had been wrongfully convicted. 10/20 RP 84-87. Such questioning would have no relevance to a juror's qualifications. At most, it might produce information that could influence counsel's decision to exercise a peremptory challenge. There is, however, no constitutional right to peremptory challenges. State v. Vreen, 99 Wn. App. 662, 668, 994 P.2d 905 (2000), aff'd, 143 Wn.2d 923, 26 P.3d 236 (2001); State v. Persinger, 62 Wn.2d 362, 365, 382 P.2d 497 (1963). Consequently, there can be no constitutional right to ask questions that might inform the exercise of such challenges.

Although constitutional rights are not involved, peremptory challenges are permitted by court rule. CrR 6.4(e). The rule also allows voir dire examination:

A voir dire examination shall be conducted for the purpose of discovering any basis for challenge for cause and for the purpose of gaining knowledge to enable an intelligent exercise of peremptory challenges. The judge shall initiate the voir dire examination by identifying the parties and their respective counsel and by briefly outlining the nature of the case. The judge and counsel may then ask the prospective jurors questions touching their qualifications to serve as jurors in the case, subject to the supervision of the court as appropriate to the facts of the case.

CrR 6.4(b).

This rule gives the trial court discretion to control voir dire:

The limits and extent of voir dire examination lie within the discretion of the trial court. However, the defendant should be permitted to examine prospective jurors carefully, and to an extent which will afford him every reasonable protection.

<u>State v. Laureano</u>, 101 Wn.2d 745, 757-58, 682 P.2d 889 (1984) (citation omitted).

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